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I. STATEMENT

1. This is a civil penalty assessment proceeding brought by the Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) against the Ronald Vigil, doing business as A-Abcott Limousines (Respondent or A-Abcott).  Respondent's place of business is located at 6969 W. 90th Avenue, #924, Broomfield, CO 80006-0216.  

2. On July 6, 2007, Staff served Civil Penalty Assessment Notice or Notice of Complaint to Appear (CPAN) No. 84028 upon respondent via certified mail, return receipt requested.  Exhibits 1 and 2.  The CPAN commenced this docket. 

3. In CPAN No. 84028, Staff alleges two violations of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 396.3(b)(2) (Counts 1 and 2); two violations of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 396.3(b)(3) (Counts 3 and 4); one violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 382.115(a) (Count 5); one violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 391.21(a) (Count 6); one violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 391.23(b) and 391.23(a)(1) (Count 7); one violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 391.23(c) and 391.23(a)(2) (Count 8); two violations of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 395.8(a) (Counts 9 and 10); and one violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6, 49 C.F.R. 391.11(a) (Count 11).  CPAN No. 84028 seeks imposition of a civil penalty in the total amount of $2,925.00 for these alleged violations.  See, Exhibit 1.  

4. On July 24, 2007, the Commission issued an Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing setting a hearing in this matter on September 18, 2007, at 9:00 a.m., in Denver, Colorado.  

5. At the assigned time and place, the undersigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) called the matter for hearing.  Staff appeared through Counsel.  Respondent failed to appear.  

6. As a preliminary matter, Staff’s Motion to Amend Civil Penalty Assessment Notice filed September 12, 2007 was considered.  Staff requested the motion be ruled upon as a preliminary matter prior to commencement of hearing because the motion was filed one week prior to the hearing.  In light of the time available prior to hearing and the nature of the requested relief, it is appropriate that response time be shortened to the commencement of hearing.  No response was filed prior to the commencement of hearing or during the hearing.  Good cause having been shown for the unopposed request, it will be granted.
7. Having addressed preliminary matters, the hearing began on the merits.  During the course of the hearing, Exhibits 1 through 9 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  Mr. Michael Williams, Criminal Investigator for the Commission testified in support of the allegations contained in CPAN No. 84028.  
8. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the undersigned now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.
II. findings of fact

9. A-Abcott is a luxury limousine carrier with Commission Authority No. LL-01329.  Accordingly, A-Abcott is subject to the Commission’s safety rules in the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6.
10. As part of his duties with the Commission, Mr. Williams conducts Safety and Compliance Reviews of carriers subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction in order to determine compliance with applicable Commission rules.  A-Abcott was selected for audit through a risk-based selection mechanism.  

11. Mr. Williams arranged to meet Mr. Ronald Vigil to conduct the review on July 2, 2007 at Respondent’s business premises.  After the review was complete, Mr. Williams prepared the Transportation Safety and Compliance Review Final Report enumerating 18 violations of the Commission’s safety rules found and provided a copy to Respondent.
12. Mr. Ted Barrett performed a Safety and Compliance Review of A-Abcott with Mr. Vigil on June 29, 2005. He prepared a final report for the Transportation Safety and Compliance Review conducted on June 29, 2005 and provided the report to Mr. Vigil.  See Exhibit 9.  

13. Mr. Williams reviewed the Final Report of the prior review of A-Abcott that was conducted on June 29, 2005.
  Exhibit 9.  Seeing that 11 of the same violations were found during his review, Mr. Williams prepared CPAN No. 84028 reflecting the 11 counts enumerated above.  Exhibit 1. 
14. Mr. Williams prepared CPAN No. 84028 and served it via Certified U.S. Mail.  Mr. Vigil received the mailing on or about July 6, 2007, and the return receipt was returned to the Commission.  Exhibit 2.  The alleged violations of CPAN No. 84028 are also listed in the Final Report regarding the review of July 2, 2007.  See Exhibits 1 and 3.

15. Respondent’s fleet consists of two vehicles:  a 1997 Lincoln and a 1992 Supreme bus.  Both vehicles were qualified as a luxury limousine in Respondent’s fleet in 2005.  The vehicles were purchased by Mr. Vigil before they were qualified for Respondent’s fleet and he is registered as an owner of both vehicles.  See Exhibits 4 though 9. Respondent also admitted to Mr. Williams that the vehicles were in the fleet during the course of the review.  Respondent has only one driver.
III. discussion 

16. A carrier providing luxury limousine service is a motor vehicle carrier exempt from regulation as a public utility, as defined in § 40-16-101(4)(a), C.R.S.  However, such exempt carriers are subject to the Safety Rules.  See, § 40-16-105, C.R.S., and Rule 6100(a), 4 CCR 723-6.  Therefore, A-Abcott is subject to the Safety Rules and its intentional violation of the same subjects it to civil penalties.  See generally, 4 CCR 723-6 and § 40-7-113 C.R.S., § 40-7-115, and § 40-7-112 C.R.S.
17. Commission enforcement personnel have authority to issue CPANs under § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  That statute provides that the Commission has the burden of demonstrating a violation by a preponderance of the evidence. 

18. The Colorado Legislature has directed the Commission to adopt reasonable safety requirements to promote public safety of operations, even for carriers exempt from regulation as a public utility.  See, § 40-2-116, C.R.S. The Commission imposes various safety requirements upon carriers, including recordkeeping requirements and the obligation to make those records available to Commission personnel upon request.  

19. The Commission must also enforce safety requirements and A-Abcott is obligated to cooperate, at some level, in that function.  
20. Mr. Williams conducted a Safety and Compliance Review of A-Abcott on July 2, 2007.  As more specifically describe in Exhibit 1, the evidence submitted in this matter establishes that A-Abcott failed to maintain and produce required documentation to demonstrate appropriate preventative maintenance (Counts 1 through 4); implement an alcohol and/or controlled substance testing program (Count 4), make inquiry of driver records (Counts 6 and 9), require driver records (Counts 7 and 10), and require inspection reports (Count 10).  

21. Staff argues that A-Abcott is specifically aware of the obligations underlying the violations that occurred in 2007 based upon the same violations having been found in 2005.  

22. Every person who violates Rule 49 C.F.R. § 382.115(a) may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $1,100.00 for each violation.  See, Rule 6105(c), 4 CCR 723-6.  Every person who violates rules 49 C.F.R. 395.8(a) and 49 C.F.R. 395.11(a) may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $375.00 for each violation.  See, Rule 6105(g), 4 CCR 723-6.  Every person who violates the remaining rules cited in CPAN No. 84028 may be assessed a civil penalty of up to $100.00 for each violation.  See, Rule 6105(k), 4 CCR 723-6.
 

Staff bears the burden of proof in this case.  See Rule 1500, 4 CCR 723-1.  Staff has met that burden of proof with respect to all but one of the alleged violations in CPAN No. 84028.  

The ALJ finds and concludes that, as alleged in the CPAN, Respondent failed to comply with Rule 6102, 4 CCR 723-6 and, more specifically, by Rule 49 C.F.R. § § 382.115(a), 391.21(a), 391.23(b), 395.8(a), 396.3(b)(2), and 396(b)(3).  The ALJ finds and concludes that Respondent violated Commission rules as alleged in as Counts 1 through 9 and 11.  

Count 10 appears to be a duplicate of Count 9.  Number 13 on page 3 of Exhibit 3 makes clear that only one driver was found to be in violation; however, CPAN 84028 charges two violations in Counts 9 and 10.  Thus, the ALJ finds that Staff has not met its burden as to Count 10.
Having found that Respondent violated the cited regulations, it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for these violations.  In the CPAN, Staff seeks a civil penalty of $2,550 for the violations found.  

23. In accordance with Rule 1302(b): 

“The Commission may impose a civil penalty, where provided by law, after considering evidence concerning the following factors:

(I)
The nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II)
The degree of the respondent's culpability;

(III)
The respondent's history of prior offenses;

(IV)
The respondent's ability to pay;

(V)
 Any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
The effect on the respondent's ability to continue in business;

(VII)
The size of the business of the respondent; and

(VIII)
Such other factors as equity and fairness may require.” 

Rule 1302(b) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1.

Based on the record in this case, the ALJ finds and concludes that $2,550 is the appropriate civil penalty amount to be assessed in this proceeding.  In making this determination, the ALJ began with the maximum civil penalty for these violations (i.e., $2,550); considered Commission guidance provided in previous civil penalty case decisions; considered the purposes of civil penalties; considered the factors in aggravation; considered the foregoing factors in mitigation; and considered the range of civil penalty assessments found to be reasonable in other civil penalty cases.  

24. As factors in aggravation, the ALJ considered that all 10 violations were repeat violations.  In June 2005, Staff performed a compliance review of Respondent and found violations of the same regulations.  See Exhibits 1, 3, and 9.  There is no indication of any effort by Respondent to comply with the Commission’s rules. The ALJ finds that, notwithstanding the 2005 violations, Respondent did not take effective corrective action to guard against future violations.  

25. Respondent did not respond to, or address, CPAN No. 84028.  Respondent is required to comply with applicable Commission rules.  Despite having years of operational experience, Respondent appears not to have any regard for Commission requirements.  Despite having been through a prior Transportation Safety and Compliance Review and having been referred to the Commission’s rules, Respondent made no apparent efforts to comply with the Commission’s rules before issuance of CPAN No. 84028.  To the contrary, hearsay testimony was offered that Respondent had no intention of making any effort to comply with the Commission’s rules for safety of the traveling public.  The ALJ finds that Respondent failed to comply with Commission rules or to take reasonable steps to comply with such rules.  

26. Further, the ALJ took into consideration the fact that the Commission has adopted the safety rules and the record-keeping rules for the protection of the traveling public.  It is necessary that passenger carriers adhere to these rules.  Finally, the ALJ took into account the type and seriousness of the violations alleged, particularly the failure of Respondent to implement an alcohol and/or controlled substance testing program. 

The ALJ took into consideration that Respondent is a sole proprietor.  This is the only evidence offered toward factors in mitigation.  

27. The Commission performs an important health and safety function of guaranteeing that authorized transportation providers operate in a safe manner to protect the traveling public.  Respondent disregarded responsibilities to this Commission and the traveling public.

28. The total maximum civil penalty for Counts 1 through 9 and 11 of CPAN No. 84028 is $2,550.00.  The ALJ finds that the maximum civil penalty achieves the following purposes underlying civil penalty assessments to the maximum extent possible within the Commission’s jurisdiction:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by other similarly situated carriers and by Respondent; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for its past illegal behavior.  In addition, assessing a civil penalty of a significant amount underscores the seriousness of the violations that occurred.  

29. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  

IV. conclUSIONS

30. Staff has sustained its burden of proving the allegations contained in Counts 1 through 9 and 11 of CPAN No. 84028 by a preponderance of the evidence as required by § 40-7-116, C.R.S.

31. The total civil penalty for such violations is $2,550.  

V. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Respondent, A-Abcott Limousines, LLC, is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $2,550.00 in connection with Counts 1 through 9 and 11 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 84028.  It shall pay the total assessed penalty of $2,550.00 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


G. HARRIS ADAMS
________________________________

Administrative Law judge
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� Mr. Williams explained that the final report is saved electronically.  When the electronic file is opened, the report date is modified to reflect the then-current date.  The date of the report is the only part of the exhibit that is automatically updated.  Exhibit 9 reflects the date the document was printed in preparation for hearing.  The date of the prior review is correctly stated as June 29, 2005.





� The maximum penalty amounts have subsequently been increased by the adoption of new rules.  However, these maximum amounts reflect the maximum in effect at the time the CPAN was issued.  
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